
 

 

 
 

3001 LOMBARDY ROAD 
 

PASADENA 
(Unincorporated Los Angeles County) 

 
Style:  Colonial Revival 
 
Year of Completion:  1933 
 
Original Building Permit:  #907, issued by the County of Los Angeles on June 29, 1933 for a 
new two-story residence with a wood-shingled roof.  A copy of this permit is no longer available, 
but the Southwest Builder and Contractor of July 3, 1933 published a transcription of it, a copy 
of which is attached on page 16.  
 
Cost to Build:  $13,495—a large amount for a new house during the Great Depression. 
 

First Owner:  Arthur C. Stewart, an oil company executive, who 
shared the house with his wife Ruth N. Stewart, their two young 
daughters, and a live-in cook and children’s nurse.   
 
Arthur Chichester Stewart was born on July 22, 1905 in Los Angeles, 
the son of William Lyman Stewart, the president of Union Oil 
Company, and Margaret Elizabeth Stewart, a native of Ireland.  
Following graduation from Pasadena High School, Arthur attended 
Stanford University and the Harvard Business School.  He then went to 
work for Union Oil, the company his grandfather had founded.  He 
would be employed there for the remainder of his working life.  One of 
his first positions was that of salesman.  By 1940, Mr. Stewart had 
become an oil refinery sales manager and in 1941 was named a vice-
president of Union Oil and a member of the board of directors.  
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In 1930, Arthur Stewart married the former Ruth Arnold Nicholson (1910-1965), a native of 
Wynnewood, Pennsylvania.  The daughter of Edgar N. Nicholson, a real estate broker, she had 
graduated in 1928 from Miss Wright’s School in Bryn Mawr and later attended the Dana Hall 
Graduate School of Music at Wellesley, Massachusetts and the Philadelphia Conservatory of 
Music.  Mrs. and Mrs. Stewart would have two children:  Ruth (1931-2013) and Barbara (1933-
2017). Mr. and Mrs. Stewart were only 28 and 23 respectively when they moved into their 
Lombardy Road house, which was said to have been a wedding gift from Mr. Stewart’s father. 
They lived in the house for about 35 years. 
 
Mr. Stewart was active in the community, serving as a leader of Community Chest, the All-Year 
Club of Los Angeles, and the Los Angeles Chamber of Commerce.  He was also a member of the 
Midwick Country Club and the Los Angeles University Club and served as a director of the 
Pacific Automotive Corporation and the Consolidated Steel Corporation. In addition, he served 
on Stanford University’s Board of Trustees. Mrs. Stewart was socially prominent, belonging to 
the Junior League and the board of directors of the Good Samaritan Hospital, where she had co-
founded the Women’s Auxiliary.  Both she and her husband were members of the Los Angeles 
Turf Club and owned a yacht which they entered in sailing competitions held by the California 
Yacht Club.  As a member of the Garden Club, Mrs. Stewart also won several awards in flower 
arranging. 
 
Mrs. Stewart passed away at the age of 55.  Mr. Stewart, who retired around 1986, survived her 
by many years, passing away in Carmel at age 92 on March 30, 1998.  He was survived by his 
second wife Betty Jane Peurifoy and his two daughters and their families.  He is interred at the 
San Gabriel Cemetery. Obituaries for both Mr. and Mrs. Stewart are attached on  
pages 10 and 11. 
 
Architect:   Marston & Maybury, one of Pasadena’s most celebrated architectural partnerships. 
The project was #810 in the Marston job list.  Please see the attached biographical materials on 
pages 7 and 8. 
 
Builder:  Benjamin J. Bennett, Jr., Pasadena. 
 
Other Building Permits:  In April 1940, a permit was issued for the construction of a 22-by-50-
foot concrete swimming pool and a bathhouse.  Both were designed and built by the Paddock 
Engineering Company of Los Angeles.  The bathhouse would have a concrete foundation, walls 
of stucco over a wood frame, and a shingled roof.  The combined cost was estimated at $5,000. 
 
A permit was issued in July 1941 for an 8-by-21-foot two-story addition at the back of the house 
to cost $5,000.   
 
In April 1960, a new 576-square-foot screen porch with a concrete-tile floor was to be added to 
the residence for $5,000.  Charles O. Matcham of Los Angeles was the designer and R. M. 
Tillsley of Pasadena was the contractor. 
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A major remodeling and expansion of the residence was permitted in June 1969.   The architect 
was Keith Marston (the son of the original architect) and the contractor was E. C. Moller, both of 
Pasadena.  The cost was estimated at $100,000.   
 
In May 1984, a permit was issued for major alterations to the residence.  Bender of Santa Monica 
was the designer. The cost was estimated at $30,000.    
 
In July 1984, the property was connected to the public sewer.   
 
Construction of a new 966-square-foot garage and loft was permitted in December 1986.  Hill-
Pinckert of Irvine was the architect and Oltmans of Whittier was the contractor for this project, 
valued at $30,000.   
 
In October 1994, the house was seismically reinforced by being bolted to its foundation.  Seismic 
Safety, Inc., of Pasadena was the contractor.  The cost was $2,920. 
 
Electrical capacity was increased to 400 amps, according to a permit issued in July 2002. 
 
Two ten-ton air-conditioning compressors were to be replaced in April 2003.  This permit was 
later marked “expired.” 
 
A permit was issued in December 2006 to convert a portion of a seven-car garage into a 289-
square-foot family room and laundry area.  The cost was estimated at $20,000.  
 
A permit was issued in July 2007 to re-roof the house for $68,000.   
 
Copies of some of these permits are attached on pages 17 through 27.   
 
(Note: Permits for very minor alterations, such as water heater replacement, are not included.  
Also not included are permits missing from the file or whose microfilmed or digital copies are 
indecipherable and not otherwise recorded or described in Assessor’s records.)    
 
Assessor’s Records:  The Los Angeles County Assessor first visited the property on  
November 24, 1933 and recorded a newly-completed single two-story residence with a concrete 
foundation, wood-frame walls, a gabled shingled roof, and plain plaster and wood trim.  Heat 
was provided by two fireplaces and a gas furnace with fifteen openings.  There were 21 “good”-
quality plumbing fixtures.  Lighting fixture were also rated “good.” Plaster, Sanitas paper, and 
plain woodwork were the primary interior finishes.  There was a total of 13 hardwood floors. 
Overall construction quality of the house was rated “good.” In fact, the Assessor commented that 
it was “a well-built and first-class house although not elaborate.”  Also on the property was a  
23-by-31-foot garage adjacent to the house.   
 
The Assessor estimated the square footage at 5,781. On the first floor were three living rooms 
(one was probably a dining room), one bedroom, one and 2/3 bathrooms, a kitchen, a pantry, and 
a breakfast room.  The second floor contained one living room five bedrooms, and three 
bathrooms (one with a walk-in shower).  There was also an 872-square-foot basement. 
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The Assessor returned on October 3, 1940 to record the completion of a 22-by-51-foot 
swimming pool, surrounded by a cement walk, and a 1,008-square-foot bathhouse. The 
bathhouse had a cement floor, stucco walls, a gabled shingled roof, and four “good” quality  
plumbing fixtures.  It contained two dressing rooms and two bathrooms and was fronted by a 6-
by-32-foot porch. 
 
On November 12, 1941, the Assessor noted a 336-square-foot, two-story addition to the rear of 
the residence. Like the house, it had a concrete foundation, walls of stucco over a wood frame, 
and a gabled, shingled “good”-quality roof.  There were three “good”-quality plumbing fixtures.  
Lighting fixtures were also rated “good.”  Plaster, putty, wallpaper, and plain woodwork were 
the primary interior finishes.  There were two hardwood floors.  Venetian blinds were built-in.  
Construction quality was rated “good.”  The first floor of the addition contained a bedroom and 
the second floor contained a bedroom and a bathroom. 
 
The Assessor returned on June 29, 1960 and recorded the completion of a 612-square-foot 
covered terrace.  It had a wood frame with “good”-quality screens and a shed-like sheet-metal 
roof.   
 
The Assessor continued to add improvements to the building records over the years. In 1970, he 
noted a remodeled kitchen with built-in appliances, a vinyl floor, and 28 linear feet of cabinets 
and counters.  The Assessor also noted the addition of a 1,020-square-foot structure, designated 
as “maid’s quarters,” that had a raised concrete foundation and a shingled roof.  It contained two 
bedrooms and two full bathrooms.  In addition, there was a 322-square-foot structure containing 
a workshop and an 879-square-foot covered porch that connected the outbuildings to the main 
house.  
 
In 1986, the Assessor noted a new front porch.  The old concrete terrace at the rear had become 
part of the living quarters of the residence, with French doors and marble flooring, and a new 
deck with a tile floor and a stucco railing had been placed above it.  The Assessor noted that the 
construction was of “very good quality.”   
 
In 2007, the Assessor noted a conversion of part of a garage to living quarters 
 
The Los Angeles County Assessor currently estimates the square footage of the house at 6,967 
with seven bedrooms and six bathrooms.   
 
Copies of the Assessor’s building records are attached on pages 28 through 38. 
 
Other Owners and Residents:  By 1969—Spencer L. Murfey 
 
In 1984—Bernard A. Reiling, Jr., a real estate broker, and his wife Judith A. Reiling, a former 
teacher. 
 
In January 2021—The Reiling Survivors Trust 
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Note:  The Stewart residence was the site of the Pasadena Junior Philharmonic Committee’s 
Showcase House of 1983.  Several news-clippings about the event are attached on pages  
12 through 15.  
 
Significance:  This property is potentially eligible for listing on a local inventory of significant 
properties due to its design by well-known architects, its prominent siting, its good state of 
preservation, and its contribution to the historical and architectural context of the Lombardy 
Road neighborhood. 
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Sources: 
 Los Angeles County Assessor (South El Monte district office) 
 Los Angeles County, Building Division 
 Los Angeles Public Library 
 
 Gebhard, David and Robert Winter.  An Architectural Guidebook to Los Angeles, 6th ed. 
  Santa Monica, Angel City Press, 2018. 
 McAlester, Virginia Savage.  A Field Guide to American Houses.  2nd ed. 
  New York, Knopf, 2013. 
  
 City Directories:  1933- 
 

Los Angeles Times: October 25, 1956; June 30, 1965; April 10, 11, 17, and 19, 1983; 
April 2, 1998 

 Pasadena Post:  December 2, 1930 
 Southwest Builder and Contractor:  July 3, 1933 
  
 Internet Resources, including California Index, California Death Index,  

Gale Biography Master Index, Ancestry.com, and Historic Los Angeles Times 
Database. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Tim Gregory 
The Building Biographer 
400 East California Blvd., #3 
Pasadena, CA  91106-3763 
626-792-7465 (office) 
626-241-4471 (cell) 
timgregory@sbcglobal.net 
www.buildingbiographer.com   
 
Copyright  April 2022 
by Tim Gregory 
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MARSTON & MAYBURY 
Architects 

 
 

Born in Oakland in 1883, Sylvanus Marston moved with 
his family later that year to Pasadena, where his father 
had purchased a tract of citrus groves in the area near 
present-day California Boulevard and Oakland Avenue. 
 
A fourth-generation architect (his grandfather built 
lighthouses along the coast and barracks at the Presidio), 
Marston went east to Cornell University to study 
architecture after attending Pomona College for two 
years.  He graduated from Cornell in 1907 and returned 
to Pasadena where he started his own firm in 1908, after 
training one year with Myron Hunt.  In 1910 he married 
Edith Hatfield, and after honeymooning in then-distant 
Hawaii, the young couple settled down in a Marston-
designed house at 661 South El Molino Avenue, 
Pasadena. 
 

Marston's early residential designs are firmly in the Craftsman tradition popular at the time.  
However, the interiors often contained surprises, such as the vaulted ceiling in the Lacey House 
at 1115 East Woodbury Road, Altadena, and refined brick fireplaces in place of the heavy 
boulder ones favored in the Craftsman era.  His early commercial work and larger residential 
designs followed the Beaux Arts tradition in which he had been trained.  Later, he and his 
associates worked with an incredible array of styles, including just about every possible type of 
Period Revival.  Examples of the variety of Marston’s residential architecture include the 
Buckingham House at 325 Bellefontaine Street, Pasadena (1918-19), in the Queen Anne style; 
the Spanish Colonial Garford House at 1126 Hillcrest Avenue, Pasadena (1919); and a French 
Provincial mansion at 293 South Grand Avenue, Pasadena (1926) 
 
By 1925, Marston's firm had become one of the largest in Southern California, with offices in 
both Pasadena and Los Angeles.  Marston was made a "fellow" of the American Institute of 
Architects and served twice as its President.  He died in 1946.  The Pasadena Museum of History 
has a complete list of Marston's works, including some photographs and drawings.  
 
Garrett Beekman Van Pelt became Marston’s partner in 1915.  Born in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 
Van Pelt (1879-1972) was educated at the Chicago Art Institute's School of Architecture.  After 
graduation in 1912, he traveled extensively in Europe for eighteen months, sketching the local 
architecture.  This early exposure to European designs undoubtedly influenced his later penchant 
for period revival styles. 
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In 1923, Marston and Van Pelt took on another partner, Edgar W. 
Maybury.  Maybury (1889-1969), was born in Minnesota and, like 
Marston, was descended from a long line of architects.  After study 
at the University of California and a self-taught course in the 
Beaux Arts curriculum, Maybury worked as a draftsman.  His 
professors, who had been impressed with his extraordinary 
versatility with styles, enthusiastically recommended him for a 
professional license in California, which he obtained in 1915.  In 
that year, Marston hired him as a draftsman.  Except for the period 
between 1918 and 1920 when he left to head up the Phoenix office 
of architects Reginald Johnson and Gordon Kaufmann, Maybury 
maintained his association with Marston until 1941.     
 

Van Pelt was, in the words of another architect, the artist of the firm, bringing a sense of scale 
and lightness to Marston's predominantly dark and heavy designs.  In the 1920s he participated 
in the firm's commissions for the Pasadena Athletic Club at the northwest corner of Los Robles 
and Green (now demolished), the Security Bank Building at Colorado and Lake (also now gone), 
Turner-Stevens Mortuary at Holly and Marengo, and many others during the time when Marston, 
Van Pelt and Maybury created the commercial and cultural setting for the new Civic Center.  In 
1926 Van Pelt published a book entitled Old Architecture of Southern Mexico.  It is full of 
photographs that he took during his extensive travels there.  
 
Other contributions of Marston, Van Pelt & Maybury to the Pasadena city-scape: the Peters 
Building on the northwest corner of Euclid and Green (now also demolished), the Grace 
Nicholson Building on Los Robles (now the Pacific Asia Museum), the Hill Avenue and Santa 
Catalina Branch Libraries, and the Westminster Presbyterian Church (1927).  
 
Van Pelt left the firm in 1927, and until 1941 it was known simply as Marston & Maybury.  An 
interesting comment on Marston and his partners can be found in Around Pasadena by Sills and 
Manion: "During the 20s no architectural firm had more influence in Pasadena.  Although they 
did not expound upon a new architectural form, they showed amazing ability in their prolific and 
versatile designs..." 
 
A profusely illustrated book on Marston and his partners, entitled Sylvanus Marston: Pasadena’s 
Quintessential Architect, by Kathleen Tuttle, was published in 2001 by Hennessey & Ingalls.   
 
Tim Gregory 
The Building Biographer 
400 East California Blvd., #3 
Pasadena, CA  91106-3763 
626-792-7465 
timgregory@sbcglobal.net 
www.buildingbiographer.com   
 
Copyright 
September 2008 

  



9 
 



10 
 



11 
 

 
 

Los Angeles Times 
April 2, 1998; p. 22 
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Southwest Builder and Contractor 
July 3, 1933 
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